IN THE
SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

No. _____

JAMES AGAN,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE EIGHTH
JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JACK GOLDBERGER
1655 Palm Beach Lakes Boulevard
Suite 802
West Palm Beach, FL 33402
(305) 686-2996

LARRY HELM SPALDING
Capital Collateral Representative

MARK E. OLIVE
Litigation Director

Office of the Capital
Collateral Representative
225 West Jefferson Street
Tallahassee, FL 32301
(904) 487-4376

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal of the trial court's summary denial of Mr. Agan's motion for post-conviction relief pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850. James Agan was convicted of murder and sentenced to death for the killing of a fellow prison inmate at Florida State Prison. The facts, as known to this Court in 1983, are contained in this Court's opinion on direct appeal affirming Appellant's conviction and sentence. Agan v. State, 445 So. 2d 326 (Fla. 1983).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This is a unique capital case: Mr. Agan purportedly waived every single constitutional and statutory right available to him pretrial and trial, including the right to jury trial and an advisory capital sentencing jury. The only evidence to support the guilty plea and death sentence came from Mr. Agan's lips; however, unknown to the plea judge, defense counsel, and this Court, the State investigators believed Mr. Agan was innocent of the charge, and that he was inexplicably "taking the rap" because he was afraid of the actual killers. Also unknown to the trial court, defense counsel and this Court on direct appeal, Mr. Agan had a significantly crippling life-long history of serious mental illness. The constitutional impact of this mental illness on Mr. Agan's innumerable purported waivers has not to date been properly assessed, even though it was properly raised in Mr.

Agan's 3.850 motion. Not one person has taken the witness stand in this death penalty case, pre-trial, trial or post trial. The summary denial of the 3.850 motion was improper, and is the subject of this appeal.

A. MYRIAD PURPORTED WAIVERS

Mr. Agan was the deluded instrument of his own demise: he quiet literally convicted himself and sentenced himself to death. As will be explained in far greater detail in Arguments II and III, infra, Mr. Agan, who prison officials did not even suspect in the crime, allegedly waived the following fundamental constitutional rights:

1. His fifth, sixth, and fourteenth amendment rights to silence and to counsel during the taking of at least three pre-trial "confessions;"
2. His fifth, sixth, and fourteenth amendment rights to silence and to counsel when he was interrogated by the state attorney during proceedings before the grand jury which indicted him;
3. His fifth, sixth, eighth, and fourteenth amendment rights to trial by a 12-person jury with regard to the issue of guilt/innocence;
4. His fifth, sixth, eighth, and fourteenth amendment rights to silence during his guilt/innocence and sentencing proceedings;
5. His constitutional and statutory rights in Florida to an advisory jury at sentencing;
6. His fifth, sixth, eighth and fourteenth amendment rights to know the purpose and meaning of "stipulations" which effect the sentence he is to receive.

In short, Mr. Agan "confessed," testified before the grand jury that he was guilty, waived jury trial, told the trial judge he was guilty, waived a sentencing advisory jury, and stipulated guilt and aggravating circumstances. A judgment of guilt of first-degree murder was consequently foregone, as was the imposition of death.

B. FACTS NOT PREVIOUSLY BEFORE THIS COURT.

The incomplete "facts" of this offense, as revealed through the plea and sentencing proceeding previously before this Court on appeal, are stated in Agan v. Florida, 445 So. 2d 326 (Fla. 1983). These facts will be restated below, but, for now it is sufficient to state that the offense purportedly was committed in revenge for a prison robbery committed against Mr. Agan by the victim. Mr. Agan "confessed" and "waived rights," and convicted himself. The 100 page record on appeal in this case contains many of the facts supporting the claims for relief raised in the 3.850 motion. In this section, Appellant will outline the relevant facts not contained in the record on appeal, and upon which an evidentiary hearing was required.

The following facts were not before this Court on appeal, and were not allowed to be proven at an evidentiary hearing during the 3.850 proceeding. If provided an evidentiary hearing, Mr. Agan would have proven the following facts:

1. Facts Supporting Incompetency Claim, and
Invalidity of "Waivers."

a. Pre-offense mental condition.

James Agan was born October 13, 1927, in Alabama City, Alabama. His father died five months before Mr. Agan was born. After James Agan was born, his mother's parents, Susie and Al Agan, raised him and his older brother Tom who was born April 29, 1926. Exhibit 22 to 3.850 Motion; Post-Conviction Record on Appeal (hereinafter P.C.) 576. A few years after James Agan's birth, he, his brother and his grandparents moved to the Atlanta, Georgia, area, between Cartersville, Rome and Atlanta. His mother married Mr. Charles Hunter and they also moved to Atlanta. All report that as a child, James suffered from night terrors, and had black out spells. He had extreme headaches that preceded his black out spells. At age 17, when he was in the Army, he reported that during these "crazy spells" "he do[oesn't] know what he is doing." Exhibit 23 to 3.850 Motion; P.C. 581.

Everyone believed James Agan's "mind was bad." According to James's aunt, from the day he was born, "James never seemed to be all there. He just ever seemed normal. He'd run away and hide for 2 or 3 days and then come back and not say where he'd been. I truly think he really didn't know where he'd been or what he'd been doing All his life James has been confused. His mind was always wandering. One minute he'd seem perfectly normal and the next he'd be confused and not know what to do."

Exhibit 22 to 3.850 Motion; P.C. 577.

According to Army records, James lied about his age and joined the army when he was 16 years old. He was stationed at Fort Knox, Kentucky. He adjusted very poorly and was discharged in 1945 at age 17, due to "inaptness [sic] and lack of adaptability." As described by Major Mathew Molitch, Army Neuropsychiatric Consultant, in a certification of examination, James was "unable to adjust to the service because of mental deficiency and unstable behavior He has retained very little instruction . . ." "He complains of pains in various parts of his body and claims that he is subject to frequent 'black out' spells A psychological examination indicates that he is very dull mentally." The report concludes:

"Diagnosis: Mental Deficiency, low moron level."

Defendant was discharged March 27, 1945. Exhibit 24 to 3.850 Motion; P.C. 582.

Ten months later, in January, 1946, James enlisted in the Army again. This time he was in the Army for 16 months. The Army did not know he had been previously discharged. Upon being constantly AWOL, an inquiry occurred, whereupon James gave conflicting statements about his Army history, was found to be "not very intelligent," and was discharged in April, 1977. This was apparently a "Section 8" discharge. Exhibit 25 to 3.850 Motion; P.C. 584.

James again successfully enlisted in the Army in 1950.

After two years, the Army discovered its three errors and court-martialled James for fooling them; he was dishonorably discharged after serving time in the stockade for the fraudulent enlistments. He was discharged effective August 21, 1952.

Exhibit 26 to Rule 3.850 Motion P.C. 585. Upon release from the Army in 1952, James returned to Georgia. He was convicted of robbery (2 counts) and sentenced to 8-12 years on June 17, 1953. Forty days later, James was evaluated at Reidsville Prison by three psychiatrists who unanimously concluded that Defendant was:

PSYCHOTIC

(boldface in original, attached to 3.850 Motion as Exhibit 27, P.C. 586. Upon this determination, James was transferred to Milledgeville State Hospital for treatment. While he was at Milledgeville he received extensive electric shock therapy and he continued to make repeated complaints about headaches. He was placed on drugs for these mental problems. Exhibit 28 to 3.850 Motion; P.C. 587.

Psychiatric disorders were also prevalent in James' family: two of James' cousins were "mental cases," and one of them committed suicide and one died while at the same Milledgeville Hospital. See Exhibit 29 to 3.850 Motion, P.C. 588. James also attempted suicide while in Reidsville Prison. Records at Milledgeville reveal reports by James that as a child he "heard voices, especially at night and he would raise up in the bed and look around and thought he heard somebody call his name." One

physician at Milledgeville diagnosed James as suffering from a serious mental disorder:

[P]sychoneurosis, anxiety reaction, with psychotic episodes.

Exhibit 30 to 3.850 Motion, P.C. 595.

In 1974, Mr. Agan was convicted of murder in Tampa, Florida, the killing of his wife's lover. While awaiting trial, he was being treated with Thorazine, a powerful psychotropic drug, four times a day. After his conviction for murder and sentence of death in 1974, the death sentence was changed to life by the trial court. While serving time at F.S.P. from 1974 until the time of the offense herein in 1980, he continued to suffer from marked mental disease. The following information about his psychiatric condition during these years is unrefuted.

Exhibit 31 to 3.850 Motion, P.C. 596.

a.) In a September 10, 1975, psychiatric contact note, Dr. Britton writes that Mr. Agan "tried to hang himself with a cord on September 7, 1975, in his cell but denied any paranoid [sic] projection." The physician's diagnosis was:

1. Anti social personality, 2. History of drug abuse: psycho-stimuli: opium alkaloids, cocaine 3. Schizophrenic, residual type.

On a chart described as Medical Report Outpatient for September 10, 1975, Mr. Agan admitted to auditory hallucinations: voices telling him to end it all. He was required to begin Thorazine medication.

b.) Mr. Agan continued on Thorazine through 1976 at F.S.P., and on January 1, 1976, he "ran out of medication and feels that he needs it to maintain his present level of functioning."

c.) In December of 1977, Mr. Agan was again "hearing voices that attack him." It was reported earlier in 1977 that Mr. Agan suffered from **anxiety neurosis**, contributing to insomnia.

d.) In 1978, an incident between Mr. Agan and inmate DeWitt occurred (robbery), which was later used by the State as a "motive" for the 1980 stabbing. After the 1978 incident, and unrevealed to this or any other Court, Mr. Agan requested to be locked down in segregation because "he stated he was starting to 'bug out.'" He was termed a danger to himself, and remained in confinement much longer than the punishment imposed required. The clinical notes after the incident report that Mr. Agan:

[C]omplains of insomnia, auditory hallucinations at night. Approximately two and one half months duration. Does not recognize voices. Blank spaces in between where he cannot account for periods of time. Subject states he has assaulted man with knife on his wing but cannot recall why.

e.) During October 1978, Mr. Agan complained that Thorazine was not helping him, and in December 1980, he began taking Haldol, another powerful psychotropic drug.

f.) In 1979 and 1980, while prison conditions at F.S.P. were particularly violent; (P.C. 60), Mr. Agan experienced growing but fluctuating psychiatric problems and fear for his safety:

1. In March, 1979, Mr. Agan requested a transfer from F.S.P., was refused, but was informed it would be reconsidered.

2. In 1979-80, Mr. Agan was in constant ill health, with chronic back pain, pain in his joints and legs, and he was required to walk with crutches. He was 53 years old, and practically disabled, and still suffered from his life-long psychiatric illness.

3. In May, 1979, Mr. Agan suffered from paranoid delusions, could not sleep, and felt very nervous.

4. In February, 1980, his progress report indicated severe pain in back, legs, and hips, and he was moved off close security. He was transferred to U.C.I. due to his severe medical handicaps.

5. In March, 1980, Mr. Agan was placed in segregation because of "protection at his own request."

6. In May, 1980, it was reported in medical records that Mr. Agan sometimes got highstrung, and hallucinated.

Inmates like Mr. Agan were constantly in fear for their lives. He was particularly frail, due to his age and physical infirmities. The safest place in the prison for him was death row. See Appendix, Section H, on Prison Conditions, P.C. 60.

b. Post-Offense Mental Condition.

The facts before this Court in 1983 were (a) those facts contained in the minutes of the grand jury proceeding where Mr. Agan testified, and (b) those "facts" appearing at the plea and

sentencing proceeding. In both those proceedings, Mr. Agan acted in a bizarre and self-defeating manner.

Unknown to the trial court and this Court, Mr. Agan acted bizarrely at all times between the date of the crime and his appearances in official proceedings. Attorneys and correctional officials knew this, but it did not appear "of record" until the Rule 3.850 proceeding. The following post-offense actions by Mr. Agan demonstrate that he was continuing to operate under the throes of a disabling mental condition:

1. On September 19, 1980, at approximately 3:25 p.m., F.S.P. inmate Dana Dewitt was found lying on the floor of his cell, U-2 South-4 (Tr. 17) P.C. 435. There were no suspects in the killing of inmate Dewitt until Mr. Agan made statements about the killing (Tr. 18) P.C. 436. While Thomas Elwell, Assistant State Attorney, stated as stipulated evidence that at the plea and sentencing, Mr. Agan's confession to the crime occurred on September 23, 1980, P.C. 436, in fact the following sequence of events is correct:

a). According to an investigation by the State in October, 1980, Mr. Agan told Lt. A. D. Thornton at 8:15 on September 19, 1980, that he had killed Dewitt. Exhibit 3 to 3.850 Motion; P.C. 468.

b). After his first "confession," an investigator from the State Attorney's office was telephoned, and that investigator came to the prison. Id. That night (the 19th), a "confession"

was tape recorded. Exhibit 4, P.C. 470.

c). During the taking of his recorded statement in the presence of the state investigator, Mr. Agan spoke by telephone with a public defender, who told him to give no more statements. Mr. Agan thereupon terminated the police interview. Id. He had again said he killed the victim, but he would not or could not provide details.

d). The public defender who spoke with Mr. Agan set up an appointment to interview him, 10/7/80, seventeen (17) days after the telephone call.

e). The next day, September 20, 1980, Mr. Agan had a first appearance upon a Department of Corrections Criminal Complaint and Affidavit, in which he was charged with first-degree murder. Sergeant Leonard H. Ball was listed as the complainant. According to the complaint and affidavit, Mr. Agan indicated that he would obtain private counsel, see Exhibit 5 to 3.850 Motion, P.C. 477, he was not there adjudged insolvent, and no-one was appointed to represent him. See Order on First Appearance dated September 20, 1980, signed by Judge Elzie Sanders, but not filed with the Court until September 24, 1980, at 9:35 a.m., Exhibit 6 to 3.850 Motion, P.C. 482. He was, in fact, fully insolvent and completely without means to obtain private counsel. Thomas Elwell was listed as the State Attorney prosecuting the case at the first appearance. Exhibit 5 to 3.850 Motion, P.C. 477.

f). An autopsy was performed September 20, 1980, revealing

the victim's death was caused by a knife-like wound to the throat. Exhibit 1 to 3.850 Motion. On September 22, 1980, an Order was signed by County Court Judge Elzie S. Sanders, upon a hearing in Chambers, Order finding Probable Cause to detain Mr. Agan. Exhibit 7 to 3.850 Motion, P.C. 483. This Order also was not filed with the Court until September 24, 1980, at 12:42 p.m. Id.

g.) At some point after his first two "court appearances," but before counsel was appointed to represent him, he gave another tape recorded statement to Sergeant Leonard Ball. Exhibit 8 to 3.850 Motion; P.C. 478. This statement was more detailed than the September 19, 1980, recorded statement contained in Exhibit 4 to 3.850 Motion; P.C. 470. This is the first statement referred to by State Attorney Elwell at "trial" (Tr. 18) P.C. 436.

h.) On October 10, 1980, Mr. Agan apparently made additional inculpatory statements, giving more details, to a Mr. Clark and Inspector Turner. These statements occurred after the appointment of counsel, Exhibit 3 to 3.850 Motion, P.C. 468, but without the presence of counsel.

4. Mr. Agan was not represented by counsel during any statements given before October 6, 1980.

5. By letter dated October 2, 1980, Mr. Agan informed the trial court that he had no attorney, that he had told Sergeant Ball this at least a week before the letter, that he had asked

that Ball ask the Court for an attorney for him, "to tell me some things I need to know." The letter was filed with the trial court at 3:46 p.m., October 6, 1980. Appendix, Section G, Exhibit 9, 3.850 Motion, P.C. 465.

6. By Order entered October 6, 1980, the trial court, in chambers, entered an Order Adjudging Defendant Insolvent and Appointing Public Defender. Exhibit 10 to 3.850 Motion, P.C. 484.

7. On October 7, 1980, John Stinson, public defender, met with Mr. Agan at F.S.P. Mr. Stinson also spoke with Sgt. Ball, the investigator on the case, on October 7, 1980, and learned that Ball believed Agan was innocent, and Ball believed three other inmates under investigation committed the offense. This information is contained in a Memorandum to Mr. Stinson's file, dated October 7, 1980, which is reproduced below in its entirety:

I spoke with the above-named inmate today who is charged with the first degree murder of Inmate Dewitt on 9/18/80. Agan's statements to me are the same as the statements he made to Tom Farkash over the phone and he backs up the theory that the [sic] voluntarily confessed to the murder.

However, after interviewing the inmate, I spoke with Sgt. Ball about this case and Ball advised me that Agan is lying to save his life in the prison. In fact, there are three other inmates who are under investigation by Sands and Turner about the murder who Ball feels did it. Furthermore, Ball advises me that Agan did give a statement to Ball after his first appearance to Judge Sanders on the 20th of September, that Saturday or Sunday and that Agan's story did not hold water and

that is why, although he has been charged, Ball does not think the case will go against him.

In addition, Agan denied that he made such a statement after meeting with the Judge, which is one lie and furthermore, there appears to be no motive for him to do it other than to get the chair and the whole scene leaves a bad taste in one's mouth in that it does not seem to fit together. I need to advise Judge Sanders to appoint the Public Defender's Office so that we have a conflict with the other people charged in the case.

Exhibit 11, 3.850 Motion; P.C. 485.

8. Apparently after Attorney Stinson's meeting with Mr. Agan on October 7, 1980, Mr. Agan gave incriminating statements to officials, previously referred to, on October 10, 1980.

9. By letter from Attorney Stinson to Mr. Agan dated October 13, 1980, Attorney Stinson complained to Mr. Agan about his uncooperativeness with counsel, and urged Mr. Agan not to testify before the grand jury. Exhibit 11a to 3.850 Motion; P.C. 486. According to the letter Mr. Agan ignored Stinson's advice of October 7 to not speak with investigators, did speak with investigators on October 10, and on that date it was decided that he would go before the grand jury and testify. The October 13 letter informed Mr. Agan that a Motion to Withdraw had been filed, and that a copy of the Motion was enclosed with the letter. Id.

10. On October 15, the day before Mr. Agan testified before the grand jury, Attorney Stinson served State Attorney

Elwell with a copy of the Motion to Withdraw, which stated:

1. The undersigned has interviewed the above-named Defendant and found him to be uncooperative in the preparation of his defense.

2. During said interview with Defendant, the undersigned is of the opinion that the Defendant either lied or distorted factual matters involving his statements to law enforcement officers concerning the incident leading to the charge in this case.

3. The instant case, being first degree murder with a possible capital penalty, is of such a degree that the Defendant must cooperate or the Public Defender cannot prepare any defense on Defendant's behalf.

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