IN THE
SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

No. 67,831

JAMES AGAN,
Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,
Appellee.

MAY 19 1967
CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
BY D. Myers
Chief Deputy Clerk

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE EIGHTH
JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH
ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARK C. MENSER
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS
THE CAPITOL
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
(904) 488-0600

WALLACE E. ALLBRITTON
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS
THE CAPITOL
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
(904) 488-0290

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This case marks the second time Mr. Agan has pled guilty in a capital case, waited until the State could no longer try him, and then challenged the "incompetence" of his plea. Last time his plea was affirmed but he escaped the death penalty. In this case, after announcing he would use the same strategy, he promised the state "I am still going to beat you". The irony of this case is that Mr. Agan's battle plan, if successful, will prove that he was absolutely sane, lucid and committed to a sound legal strategy all along.

Mr. Agan fails to support his claims with record evidence or supporting legal authority. Indeed, his claims fail not only for lack of factual support, but as legally untenable and, in some instances, waived.

Mr. Agan's non record, proffered materials do not support his position even if they could be relied upon.

The bottom line is that the trial court did not err in summarily rejecting Agan's claim on the records and pleadings before it.

ARGUMENT: POINT ONE

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN SUMMARILY
DENYING THE MOTION FOR POST CONVICTION
RELIEF.

Before addressing Mr. Agan's arguments, the State of Florida would respectfully object to his reliance upon non-record materials and cryptic references to "mandatory rules" which do not exist and "other cases" which are not identified. The State realizes that Mr. Agan desperately wants a hearing and, in doing so has decided not to move to strike his brief, but it cannot and will not forfeit the right of the people to a determination of this cause on the record before this court. Therefore, if specific assertions of "fact" buried in Mr. Agan's brief are not specifically addressed, this Honorable Court should not assume that the State accepts the assertion as true. The State is simply not in a position to address matters de hors the record.

(A) Summary Denial of Agan's Petition
was Proper.

Mr. Agan contends that the "only" proper method by which the Circuit Court could dispose of his petition was by evidentiary hearing. This is not a correct statement of the law. A motion for post conviction relief filed pursuant to Fla. R. Cr. P. 3.850 may be summarily rejected, regardless of the

claim presented or nature of the case, if the allegations contained therein are not supported by the record. Lightbourne v. State 10 FLW 303 (Fla. 1985); Riley v. State 433 So.2d 976 (Fla. 1983); State v. Williams 447 So.2d 356 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984).²

The Florida rule comports fully with federal standards in this regard. Blackledge v. Allison 431 U.S. 63 (1977); Thomas v. Estelle 550 F2d 1014 (5th Cir. 1977); Williams v. Wainwright 604 F2d 404 (5th Cir. 1979).

The court sub judice was confronted with, of all things, a claim that Agan was incompetent "supported" by Agan's sworn affidavit! The facial absurdity of this aside, the Court had transcripts which reflected a clear, sane and lucid defendant conducting his own defense according to a tested and proven plan that had worked for Agan in the past.

Against this record was posed a bundle of records which antedated Agan's last adjudication of competence (not incompetence) and which characterized Agan as a hypochondriac and a fraud who feigned "delusions" and "voices" to escape an unpleasant military life and normal imprisonment.

Mr. Agan contends that his so called "bizarre" conduct before the trial court should compel a full hearing. This "bizarre" behavior included:

- (1) Telling the Court he would kill again.

²The cited case of Hill v. State 473 So.2d 1253 (Fla. 1985) declined to follow Williams due to its facts, but did not reverse Williams.

(2) Refusing to accept the advice of his attorney regarding strategy.

(3) Uncooperativeness.

(4) Admitting guilt.

This behavior, while melodramatically portrayed in Agan's brief, was not indicative of incompetence to enter a plea, especially when viewed against the medical reports Mr. Agan has provided.

Mr. Agan, of course, has pled guilty to capital murder before and his plea has withstood legal challenges. The record, however, is not as illuminating as the candid observations of Dr. Smith. Smith described Agan as a faker and a fraud. He said Agan never suffered from any (claimed) hallucinations or delusions. Agan, said Smith, feigned his physical and mental problems to draw a better prison assignment (the hospital rather than a cell).

So, Mr. Agan has connected feigned illness with personal benefit. He faked insanity and got out of the army, he faked it again and got a better prison assignment. He faked it again and at least avoided a death sentence. (He also probably learned that he failed to act oddly enough at the plea hearing to escape liability altogether). With all this experience, Agan:

(1) Claimed he would kill again, knowing such an outrageous statement could be useful later.

(2) Refused to permit his lawyers to bring in impeachable psychiatric "evidence" or to permit state psychiatrists to examine him and find him sane.

(3) Admitted his guilt.

Mr. Agan tries to compare his case to that of Hill v. State, 473 So.2d 1253(Fla. 1985). As noted above, Mr. Hill's mental problems were much greater than Agan's. Unlike Agan, Hill had no memory and no capacity to make plans or formulate action.

Mr. Agan is not the first competent capital defendant to confess guilt, refuse to cooperate with counsel, refuse to allow development of an insanity defense or refuse to resist a death sentence. Foster v. State, 400 So.2d 1(Fla. 1981); Goode v. Wainwright, 704 F2d 593(11 Cir. 1983). Such conduct has never proven incompetence to stand trial; nor does it compel an evidentiary hearing. Foster states:

"Even though it may appear, upon examination, that a motion for post conviction relief is sufficient, it should be summarily denied if the files and records refute the allegations or otherwise conclusively preclude relief." supra, at 3.

Since evidence of past personality or mental disorders does not establish "incompetence" under Stone v. State, 10 F.L.W. 621(Fla. 1985) and given the fact that Agan had a clear and well defined strategy (indeed, after being sentenced he boasted to the prosecutor "I am still going to beat you"), and given the record at bar, the trial court was clearly justified in summarily rejecting Agan's claim.

(B) Agan's "competence" Is Not Properly Before This Court.

Mr. Agan, relying upon facts not in evidence, offers a protracted argument regarding his alleged "incompetence". While noting that Agan's proffered "evidence" does not support his claim, the fact remains that this issue is one of fact, and cannot be reargued (or have the evidence reweighed) on appeal. Tibbs v. State 397 So.2d 1120 (Fla. 1981) affd. 457 U.S. 31 (1982).

(C) Plea Procedures

Mr. Agan contends that the trial court erred in accepting his guilty plea without protecting some nebulous "due process" right to be free from the consequences of his strategic decisions.

The fact that a defendant does something a lawyer would not, causing his conviction as a result, does not compel court intervention. This is true even when, mid-trial, a defendant blurts out that he is guilty, as in Foster, supra, or when a pro se defendant conducts his defense in such a manner as to help the state convict him, as in Goode, supra.

Mr. Agan, not the court or his lawyers, controlled his defense according to his absolute right. In Faretta v. California 422 U.S. 806 (1975) the Supreme Court ruled against a trial court which tried to "save Faretta from himself", stating that no one may force counsel, or a defense, on a defendant. The Court held that Faretta's "poor" legal work would not save him later and that Faretta, not society, would have to suffer the consequences of unsound legal strategy, see e.g. Strickland v. Washington

80 L. Ed.2d 674 (1984); Wainwright v. Sykes 433 U.S. 72 (1977).

Thus, while none of us, as lawyers, would agree on the best defense in any case, that disagreement cannot compel reversal of Agan's conviction. At least Agan, unlike Foster or Goode, had a plan.

Given that, the Court undertook a plea colloquy with Mr. Agan which completely satisfied the requirements of Boykin v. Alabama 395 U.S. 238 (1969) and Davis v. Wainwright 547 F.2d 261 (5th Cir. 1977).

Mr. Agan's position, if accepted, would require this Honorable Court to overrule the United States Supreme Court's decisions on his "due process" claim on nothing more than the word of a diagnosed faker, malingerer and fraud. This would fulfill Agan's prophecy to the State Attorney ("I am still going to beat you.") and it would gravely undermine the entire process of accepting guilty pleas, as forewarned in Bryan v. United States 492 F.2d 775,80 (5 Cir. 1974):

"[to] say that a district judge must accord an evidentiary hearing to a petition which advances... the utterly incredible assertion that all the former official proceedings in his cause were no more than a stultifying charade in which justice was mocked by every participant-even the judge himself. No proceeding, not a single conceivable one, would enjoy the finality that decisional law must have to maintain its credence. Indeed, the number of hearings which a willful affiant could provoke as to a single conviction would be limitless."

Again, our record shows that Agan, based on past experience, felt he could escape a death sentence by pleading guilty to a murder he committed. see North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25 (1970). He had the absolute right to dictate his plan of defense, Strickland, Sykes, supra, and he cannot be insulated from his own strategic mistakes. Faretta, supra. Indeed, it would be a "perversion of justice" to allow Agan to use one strategy and, upon its failure, repudiate it. Curry v. Wilson, 405 F2d 110 (9 Cir. 1968).

Agan is not entitled to an evidentiary hearing.

ARGUMENT: POINT TWO

THE LOWER COURT DID NOT
ERR IN SUMMARILY DENYING
AGAN'S PETITION ALLEGING IN
EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

The record at bar contains more than sufficient facts to support the action of the trial court. While Mr. Agan wishes to obfuscate the truth with a smokescreen of irrelevant "facts", erroneous statement's of "fact" and false accusations, he cannot overcome the truth. Indeed, his argument is remarkable not for what it says, but for what it refuses to say; that Mr. Agan prevented his lawyers from preparing his defense.

Before dismantling Agan's argument, the State will strenuously object to a continuing accusation of "bad faith prosecution" in Agan's brief. The Fla. Bar Code of Prof. Resp. EC 7-13 and DR 7-103 proscribes the conduct of which the prosecutor stands falsely accused. Mr. Agan should either "put up" by filing a grievance with the Florida Bar against the State Attorney or he should "shut up". Before doing anything, however, Mr. Agan should recall that Investigator Ball, whom he selectively quotes, swore under oath that he is convinced, despite initial doubts, that Agan is guilty. Oddly enough, Mr. Ball's comment does not seem to appear in Agan's brief, although that comment would assuredly preclude competant counsel, like Mr. Futch or Mr. Stinson, from bringing Ball before the Court as a witness.

The State agrees with Mr. Agan that the issue of attorney competence is controlled by Strickland v. Washington, -U.S.-, 80 L Ed 2d 674(1984). That case sets forth a standard of representation, however, which does not require a lawyer to do that which is legally or ethically impossible; i.e., wrest ultimate control of the case from his client.

The record at bar is clear. Mr. Stinson wanted to defend Agan, but Agan refused to allow him to do so. Mr. Stinson told Agan not to talk to the police or the Grand Jury, but Agan talked anyway. Mr. Futch tried to prepare a defense, but Agan told him not to. Mr. Futch tried to argue on Agan's behalf at sentencing, and Agan told the Court he did not want Mr. Futch to say anything. Finally, Agan told the Court, under oath, that Stinson and Futch "did all they could" for him.

Referring again to our code of ethics, Fla. Bar Code of Prof. Resp. EC 7-7 states in relevant part:

"A defense lawyer in a criminal case has the duty to advise his client fully on whether a particular plea to a charge appears to be desirable and as to the prospects of success on appeal, but it is for the client to decide what plea should be entered..." (emphasis added).

The section also states:

"In certain areas of legal representation not affecting the merits of the case or substantially prejudicing the rights of the client, a lawyer is entitled to make decisions on his own. But otherwise the authority to make

decisions is exclusively that of the client and, if made within the framework of the law, such decisions are binding on his lawyer".

Mr. Stinson and Mr. Futch were legally and ethically bound by the decisions of Mr. Agan. They were not empowered with unilateral authority to file motions, claims, pleas or defenses that Mr. Agan did not want. Nor were they to be faulted for not interviewing or locating witnesses whom Agan did not want them to see or whom Agan did not name.

As noted by the court in Foster v. Strickland, 707 F2d 1339, 43(11 Cir. 1983).

"In light of Foster's adamance, Mayo had an ethical obligation to comply with his client's wishes and was thus unable to present an insanity defense. The petitioner who pre-empted his attorney's strategy choice, cannot now claim as erroneous the very defense he demanded Mayo present".

No difference exists in Agan's and Foster's decisions to forego any "insanity" defense. Ultimate control of the case rested with Agan, not with Mr. Futch or Mr. Stinson. Indeed, it is grossly unfair to these fine lawyers that Agan, in one breath, can override their decisions and then publicly defame them as "ineffective" for following a strategy which he, not they, dictated!

As noted in Strickland v. Washington:

"Judicial scrutiny of counsel's

performance must be highly deferential. It is all too tempting for a defendant to second guess counsel's assistance after conviction or adverse sentence, and it is all too easy for a court, examining counsel's defense after it proved unsuccessful, to conclude that a particular act or omission of counsel was unreasonable. A fair assessment of an attorney's performance requires that every effort be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight, to reconstruct the circumstances of counsel's challenged conduct, or to evaluate the conduct from counsel's perspective at the time.

supra, at 693.

and

"The reasonableness of counsel's actions may be determined or substantially influenced by the defendant's own statement or actions. Counsel's actions are usually based, quite properly, on informed strategic choices made by the defendant. In particular, what investigative decisions are reasonable depends critically upon such information". (emphasis added).

supra, at 696.

In Mitchell v. Kemp, 762 F2d 886, 89(11 Cir. 1985) the court again held that counsel cannot be declared ineffective for "failing" to conduct an investigation when the client prohibited counsel from summoning or interviewing the "ignored" witnesses; stating:

"When a defendant preempts his attorney's strategy by insisting that a different defense be followed, no claim of ineffectiveness can be made".

There can be no doubt from reading our record that Agan preempted counsel and elected to handle his own defense. It is grossly unfair to deny counsel permission to work and then charge counsel with "failure" to perform.

Mr. Agan contends that counsel, after speaking with him, should have immediately concluded he was insane and had his competency tested. In reply, the State submits that nothing of record indicates that Agan displayed symptoms of insanity. Indeed, Agan was lucid and rational before the Grand Jury and in the presence of the court. While he did make an incriminating comment about intending to kill De Witt's partner, we cannot tell from the record how this phrase was uttered (a wisecrack, an almost facetious remark, or a deliberate comment intended to taint the record). In any event, the comment was no more "irrational" than any made by Arthur Goode (who publicly vowed to kill again) or Charles "I want to walk or burn" Foster.

It is to be noted that Mr. Agan has rationally pled guilty in the past. He also came across to an expert, Dr. Smith, as a faker who was not mentally ill. Indeed, the lawyers who now represent Mr. Agan are comfortable enough with his competence to tender Agan's sworn affidavit in support of his motion! Are we to fault Mr. Stinson or Mr. Futch for reaching the same results?

We would repeat that a plea of guilty is not proof of incompetence, even in a capital case. In Hill v. Lockhart, 38 Cr.L. 1029(1986) one presumption was held to attach, however. That

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